ź

1 1

11 . 11 .

## NORMA TISON,

# Appellant,

v.

BECEIVED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION ONE

WESTERN PLAZA, LLC,

DEF 1 T YUIZ

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

\_\_\_\_\_

Law Offices of Dan R. Young Attorney for Appellant 1000 Second Avenue Suite 3310 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 292-8181

#

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES

#### A. Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred in ruling that the mobile home park landlord could unilaterally alter any of the terms of Ms. Tison's written rental agreement on the annual automatic renewal of the agreement.

2. The trial court erred in denying Ms. Tison's motion for summary judgment and in granting the landlord's motion for a writ of restitution.

3. The trial court erred in granting attorney's fees in favor of the landlord.

#### **B.** Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. In the absence of any prohibition in the MHLTA, do a mobile home park landlord and tenant have the freedom to bargain for and mutually agree to an enforceable clause in a written rental agreement limiting future rent increases by the landlord upon automatic renewal of the rental agreement under RCW 59.20.090(1) and as provided in the rental agreement itself? (Assignments 1 and 2.)

2. Did the trial court misconstrue the Mobile Home Landlord-Tenant Act ("MHLTA") and the *McGahuey* decision in ruling essentially that a mobile home park landlord may unilaterally change any term in the written rental agreement upon proper notice to the tenant, even if the change is inequitable? (Assignments 1 and 2.)

3. May a mobile home park landlord waive the authority under RCW 59.20.090(2) to increase rent upon proper notice by agreeing to a rent limitation provision in the written rental agreement between the landlord and the tenant? (Assignments 1 and 2.)

4. Did the landlord fail to act in good faith by unilaterally changing a rent limitation provision in the written rental agreement between the parties, which provision (a) was specifically bargained for, (b) protected the legitimate and reasonable expectations of the tenant and (c) denied the full benefit to the tenant of the landlord's performance of the rental agreement? (Assignments 1 and 2.)

5. Is the mobile home park landlord estopped from challenging a rent limitation provision, specifically bargained for in the written rental agreement, which provision had been followed by the parties for some eight years? (Assignment 1 and 2.)

#### **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Ms. Tison resides in space #48 of Western Plaza Mobile Home Park located in Tumwater, Washington (CP 19). Ms. Tison purchased the mobile home in which lives, and rents lot space from the owner of the park on which her mobile home rests (CP 19).

When Ms. Tison purchased the mobile home in 2001, Ms. Tison entered into a Manufactured Home Lot One-Year Rental Agreement with the owner of the park at that time (CP 19; App. C). Ms. Tison was concerned about the rent being increased following her imminent retirement to a level that she could not afford to pay, since she was going to be living on a "very fixed" income (CP 19). Joel Erlitz, one of the owners of the park at that time, assured Ms. Tison through the park manager that there would not be large rent increases, and that he would not increase the rent more than \$10 per month every other year (CP 19-20). Ms. Tison asked that such a provision be written down in the rental agreement (CP 19).

The park manager telephoned the park owner in Ms. Tison's presence (CP 19) and asked him if it was permissible to add such a limitation in the rental agreement (CP 19-20). Mr. Erlitz agreed to do so (CP 20). The park manager then wrote in her own handwriting two footnotes which were added to the rental agreement (CP 20).

The initial rent was set forth in the rental agreement as \$345 per month, and the first footnote stated that "Landlord, Erlitz, agrees to have land rent remain at \$345.00 for two years" (CP 20, 23). The second footnote indicated that "every other year, rent will be raised no more than \$10.00 for remaining tenancy" (CP 20, 23). These footnotes reflected the conversations Ms. Tison had with the park manager, who spoke with Joel Erlitz (CP 19-20). Ms. Tison signed the agreement as modified (CP 20).

Ms. Tison understood these provisions to mean that her rent would remain at \$345.00 for two years, i.e., until October, 2003 (CP 20). Then her rent could be increased no more than \$10.00 per month every other year (CP 20). So the rent could be increased to \$355.00 in October, 2003; to \$365.00 in October, 2005; to \$375.00 in October, 2007; to \$385.00 in October 2009; and to \$395.00 in October, 2011 (CP 20).

Western Plaza, LLC purchased the park in February, 2008 (CP 25). The park tried to increase Ms. Tison's rent to \$405.00 in 2008 (CP 20). Ms. Tison called the new owner and explained her situation, and the new owner agreed to honor the rental agreement with the previous owner (CP 20).

Ms. Tison received a notice of rent increase effective October 1,

2011, to pay \$495.00 per month (CP 20, 26). Ms. Tison continued to tender the proper amount of rent as specified in her rental agreement—the \$395.00 per month—but the new owner refused to accept the rent and sent it back to Ms. Tison (CP 20). The new owner then filed an unlawful detainer action against Ms. Tison, claiming that Ms. Tison should be paying \$495.00 per month instead of the \$395.00 specified in Ms. Tison's written rental agreement (CP 20-21). The new owner has never given Ms. Tison a reason why her 2001 rental agreement is invalid, or why it can ignore the limitations on increases specified in the rental agreement (CP 20).

The landlord's unlawful detainer action was filed on December 2, 2011 (CP 7). The complaint alleged that the rent was \$495.00 per month (CP 7), that Ms. Tison failed to pay the rent within five days of service of a five-day notice to pay or vacate, and that therefore Ms. Tison was unlawfully detaining the premises pursuant to RCW 59.20.080(1)(b) (CP 8). Ms. Tison believed her rent to be \$395.00 per month under the terms of her rental agreement, and therefore had paid the park \$395.00 per month instead of \$495.00 (CP 20). The park owner had refused the payments and returned them to Ms. Tison (CP 20-21).

The park owner took no action on the unlawful detainer lawsuit

3

for the next three months, filing instead a small claims court action in March, 2012, against Ms. Tison for the \$100 per month additional rent the park owner claimed was due, and set the hearing for May 4, 2012 (CP 26).

Ms. Tison filed a motion for summary judgment in the superior court unlawful detainer action and set the hearing for the morning of the same day (CP 16, CP 11). She asked the court to rule that her rental agreement was valid and that she was paying the correct amount of rent, and that the court should dismiss the park's unlawful detainer action against her (CP 21). The park then obtained an order to show cause (CP 60-61) and filed a civil notice of issue noting a show cause hearing for the morning of May 4, 2012 in the superior court unlawful detainer action (CP 47).

In its briefing to the trial court, the park argued that the "landlord may change any term of any lease, including perhaps the most material term of any lease: the amount of the rent or what amenities it includes; because the law provides the landlord with the legal right to change any term of the lease upon expiration of any term, after three months' written notice prior to the effective date of the increase. RCW 59.20.090(2); *McGahuey* at 183" (CP 55).<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The case referred to is *McGahuey v. Hwang*, 104 Wn. App. 176, 15 P.3d 672, *review denied*, 144 Wn.2d 1004 (2001).

The trial court ruled in favor of the park owner (CP 94), apparently agreeing with the park's position, the court stating as follows:

... [A]ll I believe that I need to consider is the fact that this was a one-year lease. It was not a longer lease period than that. \* \* \*

My understanding of the law is that at the end of one year, the lease would be renewed under the same terms unless there was a proper and timely objection to the renewing of the lease. That did not occur for a number of years. However, the plaintiff has moved to amend the terms of the lease as it's renewed. That['s] why we're here today.

I am going to rule in favor of the plaintiff. I do not believe that Ms. Tison has the right to require that the terms of that one-year lease continue once there has been an objection to those terms.

VRP 5/4/12 at 15.<sup>2</sup>

The court entered findings of fact/conclusions of law and an order for unlawful detainer on May 4, 2012 (CP 92-95). The trial court determined as a conclusion of law that the "landlord may amend the lease upon proper notice when the lease automatically renews" (CP 94).

On May 18, 2012, the trial court entered a judgment in the amount of \$11,777 against Ms. Tison, which included \$4,200 in rent Ms. Tison had tendered, but the park had refused, \$577 in costs, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>"VRP" refers to the verbatim report of proceedings, with the date of the hearing following.

\$7,000 in attorney's fees (CP 164). The judgment also provided that if Ms. Tison paid \$11,777 into the court registry on or before May 23, 2012, her "tenancy shall be reinstated." (CP 166).<sup>3</sup>

Ms. Tison timely deposited \$11,777 into the court registry (CP 172). She also timely filed a motion for reconsideration (CP 120-125). The trial court denied the motion (CP 171). She then timely filed a notice of appeal to this Court (CP 174-182), which was duly served upon respondent (CP 183).

Several months later, the park owner filed a motion to reissue the writ of restitution on the grounds that Ms. Tison's tenancy was only reinstated until the anniversary date (October 12<sup>th</sup>), and the park owner could "fail to renew" her tenancy under RCW 59.20.080(1)(b) for her previous failure to pay rent within five days of a notice to pay or vacate (CP \_\_\_\_). Ms. Tison opposed the motion on the grounds that once Ms. Tison's tenancy was reinstated, it was reinstated for all purposes, including the right to have automatic renewals under RCW

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>RCW 59.18.380 provides in relevant part that when an unlawful detainer proceeding arises from a default in payment of rent, and the lease has not expired, "execution upon the judgment shall not be issued until the expiration of five days after the entry of the judgment, within which time the tenant . . . may pay into court for the landlord the amount of the judgment and costs, and thereupon the judgment shall be satisfied and the tenant restored to his or her tenancy . . ." RCW 59.18.380 is made applicable to proceedings under the MHLTA by the terms of RCW 59.20.040.

59.20.090(1) (CP \_\_\_\_). The trial court denied the motion, stating that it was unwilling to make a ruling before this Court decided the instant appeal (CP \_\_\_\_).

#### **III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Mobile home park owners and tenants are generally free to bargain for any provision in the rental agreement that does not violate a statute or public policy. *Little Mountain Estates Tenants Association v. Little Mountain Estates MHCLLC*, 169 Wn.2d 265, 273 fn 3, 236 P.3d 193 (2010). Ms. Tison was concerned about the decline in her future income following her upcoming retirement, so prudently negotiated a provision in her rental agreement limiting future rent increases to \$10 per month every two years. There is no rent control limiting mobile home park space rents in the State of Washington, and RCW 59.20.090(2) permits the park owner to raise rent (without any limitation) upon three months' prior notice, so the limitation in the rental agreement was the only protection Ms. Tison had against being priced out of her home.

The park owner's remarkable claim that it can change any term in the rental agreement upon three months' notice is an unwarranted extrapolation from RCW 59.20.090(2). Its argument that it can ignore the express written rent limitation in the signed rental agreement is without foundation in either the MHLTA, the case law construing it or equitable principles.

Analysis of the MHLTA yields no support for the park owner's position.

First, RCW 59.20.090(1) provides that unless otherwise agreed, "rental agreements shall be for a term of one year. Any rental agreement of whatever duration shall be automatically renewed for the term of the original rental agreement, unless a different specified term is agreed to." RCW 59.20.090(1). Automatic renewal suggests renewal without manual intervention, without anyone's taking any action. A renewal which occurs "automatically" does not give the park owner an opportunity to change the terms of the rental agreement.

Second, the purpose of this statute is to "promote long term and stable mobile home lot tenancies." *Holiday Resort Community Association v. Echo Lake Associates, LLC*, 134 Wn. App. 210, 224, 135 P.3d 499 (2006), *review denied*, 160 Wn.2d 1019 (2007). The park owner's interpretation of this provision, which does not expressly authorize the park owner to change any term in the rental agreement upon automatic renewal, does not promote long term and stable mobile home tenancies. The park owner's interpretation would abrogate an elderly tenant's ability, through mutual express

8

agreement, to protect herself from unaffordable rent increases. The Legislature has determined that "mobile home parks provide a source of low-cost housing to the low income, elderly, poor and infirmed [sic], without which they could not afford private housing . . ." RCW 59.22.010. The park owner's interpretation is inconsistent with the purposes and objectives of the MHLTA.

Third, the MHLTA contains a number of provisions illustrating the importance of a written rental agreement in the mobile home context. For example, all mobile home tenancies must be based on a signed written rental agreement. RCW 59.20.060(1). No landlord shall allow a mobile home to be moved into a mobile home park until a written rental agreement has been signed by the parties. RCW 59.20.050(1). A landlord must offer at the minimum a written oneyear rental agreement. *Id*.

Numerous provisions govern the required contents of the written rental agreement, including the park rules and regulations. RCW 59.20.060(1)(a) through (l). The MHLTA also prohibits the rental agreement from containing various clauses. RCW 59.20.060(2)(a) through (h). If the park owner could change any term in the rental agreement upon three months' notice, the above detailed provisions requiring a rental agreement, requiring certain

9

matters to be contained in the rental agreement, and prohibiting certain clauses, would be rendered meaningless upon the first renewal of the rental agreement. The park owner could simply change any provision it did not like, including terms favorable to the tenant which may well have induced a tenant relying on the rental agreement to move into the park, as in the case at bar.

Fourth, the park owner's interpretation of the MHLTA ignores key amendments to RCW 59.20.090 since the inception of the Act. The original version of the statute contained an express provision whereby the park owner could change any term in the rental agreement upon renewal. That version was amended, deleting such power in the park owner, and the current version gives the park owner no such express power. The park owner's interpretation would ignore these later legislative amendments and would construe the statute as though it had never been amended.

The park owner argues that the case of *McGahuey v. Hwang*. supra, 104 Wn. App. 176, allows the park owner to change <u>any</u> term of the rental agreement upon three months' notice. While that case did allow a change in the rental agreement to allow charges for utilities, *McGahuey* also stated that the tenant had to be protected by any change, and "whatever alterations [to the lease] the landlord seeks must be equitable." 104 Wn App. at 182. The park owner failed to address in the trial court the equitableness of the change it sought in Ms. Tison's rental agreement.

The equities favor Ms. Tison. She specifically negotiated the provision in question, and the park owner at the time agreed to it. She wanted to protect herself from buying a home which she later could not afford due to her impending retirement and living on a limited income.

The new park owner, on the other hand, bought the park subject to the existing tenant leases. It therefore could have or should have negotiated a lower purchase price for the park, if it thought that Ms. Tison's rental agreement had a negative impact on the value of the park. To the extent that the current park owner did so, allowing the park owner to essentially abrogate the rent limitation clause Ms. Tison specifically negotiated would give an undeserved windfall to the park owner. The balance of the equities therefore favors Ms. Tison.

Even if RCW 59.20.090(2) can be construed in the abstract to permit the park owner to amend any term in the rental agreement upon annual renewal, the park owner here waived any such right by voluntarily signing a rental agreement containing a clause whose effect was to limit the application of RCW 59.20.090(2) (the park owner's ability to raise rent by sending a three-months' notice) and which the park owner had abided by for many years. *Lande v. South Kitsap School District,* 2 Wn. App. 468, 473-4, 469 P.2d 982 (1970).

By attempting to abrogate a specifically negotiated clause in the rental agreement, the park owner is also attempting to avoid the implied duty of good faith, which requires the parties to "perform in good faith the obligations imposed by their agreement." *Badgett v. Security State Bank*, 116 Wn.2d 563, 569, 807 P.2d 356 (1991). The park owner is precluded from avoiding his implied obligation of good faith to see that Ms. Tison got the benefit of rental increases limited to \$10 per month every two years.

Moreover, the MHLTA imposes an obligation of good faith in the performance or enforcement of any right or remedy under the MHLTA. RCW 59.20.020. Under the test specified in the *Restatement*, intentionally charging a higher rent than specified in the contract constitutes evasion of the spirit of the bargain, willful rendering of imperfect performance or abuse of power to specify terms so as to constitute bad faith. *Restatement (Second) of Contracts*, § 205 cmt. d. The park owner is therefore precluded by RCW 59.20.020 from exercising the remedy of unlawful detainer.

Because there is no disputed issue of material fact regarding

12

Ms. Tison's right to have enforced the specifically-negotiated rent limitation clause in her rental agreement, the trial court should have granted summary judgment in her favor and awarded her costs and attorney's fees.

#### IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

# A. This Court Reviews the Trial Court's Judgment and Conclusions of Law De Novo.

Issues of law are reviewed on appeal de novo. *Wingert v. Yellow Freight Systems, Inc*, 146 Wn.2d 841, 847, 50 P.3d 256 (2002). Issues of statutory interpretation are also reviewed de novo. *Hartson Partnership v. Goodwin*, 99 Wn. App. 227, 231, 991 P.2d 1211 (2000).

B. The Trial Court Erred in Granting Judgment in Favor of the Landlord and Should Have Granted Summary Judgment in Favor of Ms. Tison.

# 1. Summary Judgment Is Proper If There Is No Dispute as to Any Material Fact.

The standard of review on summary judgment is well settled. Review is de novo; the appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Benjamin v. Washington State Bar Association*, 138 Wn.2d 506, 515, 980 P.2d 742 (1999); *Trimble v. Washington State University*, 140 Wn.2d 88, 92, 993 P.2d 259 (2000). Summary judgment is appropriate if there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law *Clements v. Travelers Indemnity Co.*, 121 Wn.2d 243, 249, 850 P.2d 1298 (1993); CR 56(c). All facts submitted and all reasonable inferences from them are to be considered in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Clements*, 121 Wn.2d at 249. "The motion should be granted only if, from all the evidence, reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion." *Clements*, 121 Wn.2d at 249 (citing *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d 434, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). Ms. Tison has met that standard here.

#### 2. There Is No Dispute about Any Material Fact.

The lot rental agreement that Ms. Tison signed provides that the initial rent was \$345 per month, with a footnote that "Landlord, Erlitz, agrees to have land rent remain at \$345.00 for two years" (CP 23). Another footnote indicated that "every other year, rent will be raised no more than \$10.00 for remaining tenancy" (CP 23). *Id.* These footnotes reflected the conversations Ms. Tison had with Joel Erlitz through the park manager (CP 20).

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