FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2012 NOV 14 PM 1:22

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY *[Signature]*
DEPUTY

NO. 43514-4-II

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS,
DIVISION II

WESTERN PLAZA, LLC,

Respondent,

vs.

NORMA TISON,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Appeal from the Ruling of Judge Gary Tabor,
Thurston County Superior Court

Walter H. Olsen, Jr., WSBA #24462
Deric N. Young, WSBA #17764
B. Tony Branson, WSBA #30553
OLSEN LAW FIRM PLLC
205 S. Meridian
Puyallup, WA 98371
(253) 200-2288
Attorneys for Respondent

pm 11/13/12

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

regarding other lease term amendments upon renewal, but tacitly acknowledges this legal right in RCW 59.20.080(1)(a).³ The Homeowner's argument for tenancies in perpetuity based upon *Little Mountain Estates Tenants Association v. Little Mountain Estates MHC LLC*, 169 Wn.2d 265, 273, 236 P.3d 193 (2010) is misguided. In *Little Mountain Estates*, the lease bargained for between the parties was a term of 25 years. That is not the case here. The parties here bargained for a one year lease term.

The lease here contemplated a limitation on the rent for the "remaining tenancy." It is black letter law that expiration of a lease term results in termination of the tenancy. Where a lease is for a specific period of time, the tenancy is deemed terminated at the end of the specified time. RCW 59.04.030. See also *Oak Bay Properties, Ltd. v. Silverdale Sportsman's Center, Inc.*, 32 Wn. App. 516, 648 P.2d 465 (1982), *review denied* (leases which are perpetual in nature are disfavored and must be interpreted to avoid such a result whenever possible).

Furthermore, by the specific terms of the lease, amendments to the lease are contemplated. CP 32, para. 30. There are no limitations on amendment of the agreement other than that any amendment must be in

³This was the question before the court in *McGahuey*, which held that it is "untenable" to interpret the MHLTA to mean that the Landowner was locked into the original lease terms into perpetuity. *McGahuey* is discussed herein at para. (4), pp. 24-27.

writing. CP 32, para. 30. The Homeowner correctly notes that the parties may enter into a contract that determines the term of their rental agreement, but the Homeowner expressly agreed to a one year term. RCW 59.20.090(1). The automatic renewal provisions of this statute and the provisions for termination of leases under RCW 59.20.080 impose a statutory limitation on the parties' freedom to bargain. However, within the confines of these limitations, the MHLTA acknowledges the freedom of the parties, for example, to bargain for and determine the rent by a formula in the context of limitations on alterations of the rent due dates. RCW 59.20.060(2)(c).

In addition, RCW 59.20.090(1) specifically provides that the rental amount may be amended upon three months' notice, prior to the anniversary date, during which time the Homeowner is afforded an opportunity to prepare for the change and/or terminate the tenancy as she has a right to do under the same statute. RCW 59.20.090(3). Upon exercise of the landlord's common law right to change the rent, a right that is limited by the notice requirement in the statute, the tenant continues to have all the options it otherwise has to mutually agree and continue the lease or to terminate the lease. The tenant may freely continue the tenancy, remove or sell the manufactured home, or assign the tenancy. RCW 59.20.070(1); RCW 59.20.073. Thus, the tenant is always free to

agree or disagree with a change in the terms of the rental agreement, and is thus free to continue the tenancy, terminate the tenancy, or sell the manufactured home.

The Homeowner's argument, however, would impose a lease term that is enforceable until the end of time if it occurs, locking in terms as if the Homeowner's one year rental agreement is a 25-year or 99-year lease. However, this is not what the parties bargained for. As the Homeowner notes, courts do not have the power to rewrite contracts. Appellant's Brief at 15; citing *Little Mountain Estates Tenants Association v. Little Mountain Estates MHC, LLC*, 169 Wn.2d 265, 273 fn 3, 236 P.3d 193 (2010). The lease is a one year lease. The Court does not have the power to rewrite this contract to impose a term other than what the lease itself specifies. Thus, the parties agreed to and bargained for an annual lease subject in its initial term to the handwritten limitations, but also subject to change upon its renewal.

Finally, the lease terms limiting the amount of any increase here are applicable to "Landlord Erlitz" for the Homeowner's "remaining tenancy" with *him*. It was an agreement with the prior landlord to limit rent adjustments during that landlord's ownership and the Homeowner's tenancy, whichever first ended; thus, it was a private agreement between

the Homeowner and Joel Erlitz, and hence terminated upon purchase of the Park by Landowner.

For purposes of this matter, the Landowner does not dispute that the multiple provisions cited by the Homeowner impose limitations upon rental agreements; however, none of those are applicable here. Brief of Appellant 19–21. The Landowner is not seeking to change the term of the rental agreement or abandon the written rental agreement requirement. RCW 59.20.050(1); 060(1). Neither is the landlord seeking to change the time or place of payment, guest parking provisions, or any other of the provisions delineated in RCW 59.20.060(1)(a) through (l).⁴ Likewise, the landlord is not changing the Park Rules.⁵

The Landowner does not dispute that the MHLTA requires certain terms and limits other terms that may be contained in rental agreements; however, there is no limitation upon whether the Landowner may change the terms of the lease. For example, RCW 59.20.060(2)(c) prohibits landlords from making mid-term changes to the rent; however, it does not

⁴However, even if the landlord were trying to change one of these provisions, it does not necessarily follow that the landlord cannot. For example, 59.20.060(1)(i) provides for a listing of the utilities, services and facilities, but our courts have repeatedly upheld the landlord's right to change these terms. *McGahuey v. Hwang*, 104 Wn. App. 176, 182-183, 15 P.3d 672 (2001); *Seashore Villa v. Hagglund*, 163 Wn. App. 531, 540, 260 P.3d 906 (2011).

⁵There is no limitation in the MHLTA on the right to change the Park Rules. They simply must comply with the provisions of RCW 59.20.045.

otherwise preclude changes in rent.⁶ RCW 59.20.060 states in relevant part as follows:

(2) Any rental agreement executed between the landlord and tenant shall not contain any provision:

(c) Which allows the landlord to alter the due date for rent payment or increase the rent: (i) During the term of the rental agreement if the term is less than one year, or (ii) more frequently than annually if the term is for one year or more: ...

The statute itself allows for alteration of the due date and the amount of rent. Accordingly, the landlord has a right to adjust the rental amount at the end of a term, provided such increase may not be made more frequently than annually.⁷

The Homeowner also argues that the purposes of the MHLTA as cited by various courts mandates adoption of her position. However, the Homeowner fails to show why in this case, otherwise applicable provisions of the MHLTA do not already protect her “long-term and stable mobile home lot tenanc[y].” Brief of Appellant, at 24; citing *Holiday Resort Community Association v. Echo Lake Associates, LLC, supra*, 134 Wn. App. 210, 224.

⁶This particular statute even allows for mid-term changes in rent pursuant to escalation clauses meeting its requirements.

⁷Arguably, this limitation with respect to rent infers that by not limiting other changes to rental agreements, the Legislature intended that only amendments to rental agreements increasing the rent require a specific notice period. *See also* RCW 59.20.090(2).

The Homeowner's protections under the MHLTA remain in place, and the Landowner's exercise of its already provided for right to adjust the rental amount upon renewal of the rental agreement do not compromise them. An extension of these protections to allow for a guaranteed rent rate, without a written lease extending these benefits beyond its term, is an unwarranted impairment upon the parties' ability to negotiate the term of the lease. If the parties intended to be bound by the same terms under a multi-year lease, they could have entered into such a lease. They did not in this case.

The Homeowner's interpretation of the statute's legislative history is also not necessary or helpful, because the statutes at issue in this appeal are unambiguous. In the alternative, under the statutory scheme in place in 1977, there was a provision allowing the landlord to "terminate any tenancy without cause." *See* Exhibit D of attached Appendix. The termination of a tenancy without cause language was removed by the legislature in 1993 as a "compromise worked out between park owners and tenants to address mobile home landlord tenant issues." *See* ESSB 5482, House Bill Report, at p. 3, Laws 1993 Ch. 66 S. 19(2), attached to Appendix as Exhibits B, C. The 1998 amendment simply updated RCW 59.20.090 to reflect the 1993 change in the law. *See* SB 5164 Final Bill Report, Laws 1998 Ch. 118 attached to Appendix as Ex H. ("Outdated

references to eviction without cause are removed”). One can hardly glean a legislative intent from such a change.

The Homeowner’s legislative history may support the *Holiday Resort* Court’s interpretation that the one year term, with a right to a one year renewal is indicative of the Legislature’s desire to promote long-term and stable mobile home tenancies, *Holiday Resort Community Ass’n v. Echo Lake Associates, LLC*, 134 Wn. App. 210, 224; 135 P.3d 499 (2006), *review denied*, 160 Wn.2d 1019 (2007). But, it does not indicate a legislative intent to preclude changes in rental agreements with proper notice, as the *Seashore Villa* and *McGahuey* cases so held. *Seashore Villa v. Hagglund*, 163 Wn. App. 531, 260 P.3d 906 (2011); *McGahuey v. Hwang*, 104 Wn. App. 176, 15 P.3d 672 (2001).

The trial court’s judgment against the Homeowner for unpaid rent is correct, and should be affirmed by this Court in its entirety.

(4) **McGahuey Permits the Landowner to Adjust Rent Upon Exercise of Notice Pursuant to RCW 59.20.090(2).**

The Homeowner argues that *McGahuey* limits changes in rental agreements to those which protect the tenant and are equitable. Brief of Appellant, 32–40. The *McGahuey* court rejected this argument as “untenable.”

In *McGahuey v. Hwang*, 104 Wn. App. 176, 15 P.3d 672, *review denied*, 144 Wn.2d 1004 (2001), the park owner sent a notice to tenants with a change of rental indicating that the park would no longer pay for utilities. The Court of Appeals upheld such a change, *rejecting* the tenants' contention that the original lease agreements were frozen forever in time. The Court stated:

Citing RCW 59.20.090(1), which provides that leases automatically renew at the end of their term, the Tenants claim the MHLTA prohibits a landlord from requiring a tenant to pay for utilities once any lease requiring the landlord to do so is signed. According to the Tenants, the landlord is not permitted to increase or add any fee or charge except to increase the rent when the lease agreement expires as provided in RCW 59.20.090(2). ***This reading of the statute is untenable.***

McGahuey, at 181-182.

The court additionally stated:

While we recognize that one significant purpose of the MHLTA is to give heightened protection to mobile home tenants, there are two related reasons for rejecting the Tenants' interpretation of the statute. First and most obvious, it nowhere provides that a landlord may not increase or impose fees for services in addition to the rent. Rather, portions of the statute ensure that whatever alterations the landlord seeks must be equitable. For example, the landlord may not charge a utility fee in excess of actual utility costs¹⁴ or increase a tenant's obligations or decrease services in retaliation for a tenant's good faith lawsuit or membership in a homeowners association.¹⁵ And even these provisions, which relate directly to the kinds of services and charges at issue here, do not bar increases or changes in fees. Second, the only limitation on

increases of any kind found in the MHLTA is the requirement discussed above that rental rates-not fees-be increased only upon lease expiration and three months' notice. ***Express mention of one thing in a statute implies the exclusion of another*** [citing *Kreidler v. Eikenberry*, 111 Wn.2d 828, 835, 766 P.2d 438 (1989)]. ***Thus, we cannot accept the Tenants' argument that the limitation on raising rent prohibits raising or imposing fees. Legally and logically, it does just the opposite.*** By omitting any limit on assessing or raising fees or other charges, the statute has imposed no restrictions on them.

McGahuey v. Hwang, 104 Wn. App. 176, 182-83, 15 P.3d 672, 675-76 (2001).

In *Seashore Villa*, the court distinguished *McGahuey*, but still recognized its ruling, as follows:

The reasoning in *McGahuey* arguably supports the Park's assertion that the MHLTA does not require original lease terms to stay in effect through every automatic renewal. But this case is factually distinguishable from *McGahuey*, because here there is language in the MHLTA prohibiting the landlord from transferring the duty to maintain the structures to the Park's tenants. Additionally, the trial court only found that transferring the duty to care for the permanent structures during the current lease term would violate RCW 59.20.135. The trial court used contract law to support its conclusion that the landlord could not remove the carports and sheds during the leaseholders' tenancies. We hold that the Park violated RCW 59.20.135 by asking tenants to sign an agreement transferring the ownership and responsibility for maintenance of the storage shed and carport from the landlord to the tenants.

In *Seashore Villa*, the park allegedly attempted to transfer responsibility for maintenance of carports in violation of RCW 59.20.135.

In this case, as in *McGahuey*, there is no language in the MHLTA

prohibiting the landlord from altering a term related to rent. The restrictions on leases quoted by the Homeowner in her Brief, are the “equitable” restrictions that are imposed upon the park by statute, e.g. utilities charges cannot exceed actual cost, improper transfer of maintenance responsibilities, proscriptions regarding rules, et al. *See* RCW 59.20.070(6); RCW 59.20.135; RCW 59.20.045. There are no such comparable restrictions related to adjustment of rent.

Thus, this Court should apply the reasoning of *McGahuey* to find that rent may be adjusted upon termination and renewal of the lease as the trial court did in this case. The Homeowner here entered into a one year lease dated October 9, 2001. CP 25. Under the MHLTA, the *one year term* of the lease automatically renewed from October through September of each following year, but the actual provisions of the lease (not the length of the lease) could be amended upon three months’ written notice given prior the expiration of any one year lease. *Seashore Villa v. Hagglund*, 163 Wn. App. 531, 260 P.3d 906 (2011); *McGahuey v. Hwang*, 104 Wn. App. 176, 15 P.3d 672 (2001). The notice was properly given. The rent increase was valid. The Homeowner’s failure to pay rent was grounds for termination of the tenancy, and this Court should affirm the trial court’s Judgment in its entirety.

(5) **The Right to Adjust Rent Upon the Anniversary Date of the Original Tenancy is Renewed Each Year; Thus, There Was No Waiver of that Right in 2010.**

The Homeowner argues that the Landowner waived its right to raise rent under RCW 59.20.090(2) by agreeing to the limitation in the original contract.

Waiver is defined as the intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a known right in existence at the time of the waiver. *Meyers Way Development Ltd. Partnership v. University Sav. Bank*, 80 Wn. App. 655, (1996); *Bowman v. Webster*, 44 64 Wn.2d 667 (1954). The burden of proving a waiver is on the party asserting it. *Perez v. Perez*, 11 Wn. App. 429, 523 P.2d 455 (1974).

The Landowner does not dispute that during the original term, or in the alternative, so long as Landlord Erlitz was the Lessor, that the expressed limitation waived that landlord's right to raise rent. However, as noted above, the limitation survives only the "remaining tenancy," which has long since been terminated. *See pp. 17-18, above.*

The right to adjust the rent renews upon each one year anniversary of the original tenancy. Thus, upon termination of the lease and renewal, the landlord has a right to adjust the rent. Although that right may have been waived upon subsequent anniversary dates, such right remains at any

future anniversary date; thus, there is not a waiver, where the landlord properly adjusts the rents upon renewal of the tenancy.

In addition, our Supreme Court has long held that any waiving party may reinstate the rights that have been waived upon reasonable notice that gives a reasonable opportunity to comply. *Crutcher v. Scott Pub. Co.*, 42 Wn.2d 89, 97, 253 P.2d 925 (1953). Thus, although the acceptance of the rent pursuant to the terms of the original rental agreement constitutes acceptance of that agreement and waiver of its rights under the MHLTA, upon reasonable notice, the landlord may reinstate its rights under RCW 59.20.090(2).

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